
 

 

       
December 6, 2022 

        VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 

Mayor Betsy Nash 
  And Members of the City Council 
City of Menlo Park 
701 Laurel Street 
Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 
 RE: City of Menlo Park’s Sixth Housing Element Site Inventory 
 

Dear Mayor Nash and Members of the City Council: 

 In advance of the City Council’s upcoming hearing to consider the Sixth Housing 
Element (“Housing Element”), we are writing on behalf of the David D. Bohannon 
Organization (“DDBO”) to follow up on our letter of November 11, 2022 (attached) that 
requested the City of Menlo Park (“City”) include our property located at 3750 Haven 
Avenue (APN 055-231-060) (“Property”) in the Housing Element’s inventory of housing 
opportunity sites (the “Site Inventory”).   

 As we have explained, there are important reasons to include the Property in the 
Site Inventory: 1) serious interest to develop the Property into much-needed, high-density 
housing; 2) suitability as a nonvacant site for redevelopment; 3) realistic capacity to yield 
approximately 442 residential units; and 4) ability to help the City achieve substantial 
compliance with State Housing Element Law.  Moreover, we also request that the City 
include the contiguous parcels located in Bohannon Park (as shown on the attached map) 
that DDBO controls and which could be assembled and developed into a viable, multi-
family village if the City creates the necessary densities, such as those established for the 
ConnectMenlo General Plan (“ConnectMenlo”).  The inclusion of these sites will serve to 
materially help the City make the case that its Site Inventory contains actual land 
suitable and available for residential development, which will bolster the legitimacy of 
the City’s Site Inventory and facilitate compliance with State Housing Element Law.  We 
understand that staff is not adding to the Site Inventory without direction from the City 
Council.  We ask for this direction tonight. 

Housing Element Deficiencies 

 We are writing to amplify the point made in our November 11th letter as to the 
deficiencies in the Housing Element identified by the Department of Housing and 
Community Development (“HCD”).  The City is facing unprecedented consequences for 
potential Housing Element noncompliance.  HCD has raised serious realistic capacity 
concerns that require a major overhaul of the document to achieve compliance with State 
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Housing Element Law.  Specifically, the City must revisit its housing inventory to ensure 
that, not only can the City achieve its baseline RHNA obligation (i.e. 2,946 units), but its 
30% percent buffer expectation (i.e. 884 units), as well.   

 As you know, HCD’s October 21, 2022 letter (“HCD Letter”) identifies the need 
for further analysis regarding suitability of nonvacant sites.  Specifically, the HCD Letter 
states, “[t]he element must include an analysis demonstrating the potential for 
redevelopment of nonvacant sites.” (HCD Letter, page 4.) (emphasis added.)  HCD goes 
on to say that: 
 

 While the element includes a detailed description of existing uses, it must also 
 demonstrate the potential for additional development in the planning period… the 
 element must analyze the extent that existing uses may impede additional 
 residential development.  For example, the element includes sites identified as 
 religious institutions,  a post office, parking lots, a supermarket and office 
 buildings…the housing element must demonstrate existing uses are not an 
 impediment to additional residential  development  and will likely discontinue in 
 the planning period…[a]bsent findings (e.g.  adoption resolution) based on 
 substantial evidence, the existing uses will be presumed to impede  additional 
 residential development and will not be utilized toward demonstrating 
 adequate sites to accommodate the regional housing need allocation. 

(HCD Letter, page 4.) 

Simply put, we believe the City has a serious problem making such findings based on the 
necessary substantial evidence.  This Summer, DDBO wrote two letters to the City 
stating our willingness to consider converting certain properties near Marsh Rd/HWY 
101 to residential uses if the City increased the 30 du/acre base to a higher, more viable 
density, such as that in the ConnectMenlo area, where, not coincidentally, actual multi-
family projects of higher density currently are being developed.  In the June 6, 2022 Staff 
Report, staff recommended to the City Council that, not only should you keep these sites 
on the Site Inventory, but you also should increase the densities.  However, the City 
Council ignored this recommendation and removed the sites in the face of clear 
demonstration of our willingness to redevelop the sites at more viable densities.  Now, 
the Site Inventory is shortchanged 102 potential units at minimum or hundreds of units at 
a maximum. 
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 Conversely, at the same June 6, 2022 Special Meeting, the City Council was 
informed that the property owners of the Sharon Heights Office Parks had expressed 
disinterest in housing development on their Sand Hill Road sites.  Staff recommended 
that the City Council remove these sites from the Site Inventory in light of this 
disinterest.  Nevertheless, despite clear evidence of a property owner’s complete lack of 
intent to develop its sites, the City Council directed staff to keep these sites on the Site 
Inventory. 

 

 These are just two examples of the City’s problematic choices with respect to the 
Site Inventory analysis.  Moreover, a review of public comments submitted on the 
Housing Element identified numerous other instances where commenters have called into 
question the viability of opportunity sites.  Staff recommended removing these sites from 
the Site Inventory, as well, yet nearly all of them have remained, despite their 
questionable suitability. Now, it would appear that, if these sites are rejected by HCD as 
being infeasible for the reasons the commenters raise, then the buffer being relied upon in 
the Housing Element would be eliminated.  This background information highlights the 
City’s serious problems associated with meeting HCD’s mandate and complying with 
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State Housing Element Law.  Consequently, it necessitates the City’s need to include 
additional, more realistic sites, as discussed below.   

Inclusion of 3750 Haven and Bohannon Park Properties 

 In light of the foregoing, DDBO again stresses the importance of the City adding 
the Property to the Site Inventory so that it can point to its high likelihood of 
redevelopment to housing during the 6th RHNA cycle.  Frankly, the City does not have 
many of these obvious, suitable redevelopment opportunities on which to rely.  Instead, it 
is asking HCD and the public to believe that property owners will develop “carve outs” 
of their sites and build housing in parking lots at remarkably low density.  These tenuous 
assumptions accompanied by the lack of real evidence put the City’s Housing Element at 
extreme risk.  Therefore, we request that the City Council give serious consideration to 
the Property, even if it is located in District 1, for the reasons enumerated in our prior 
letter and to avoid the consequences of Housing Element non-compliance.    

 Similarly, we are making a new request that the City include certain properties in 
Bohannon Park that DDBO controls and could consolidate for redevelopment to multi-
family housing.  These sites are highlighted on the attached map and include: 
 

 120, 140, 160 Scott Place (APN 055-253-220) 
 4065 Campbell Avenue (APN 055-251-270) 
 4045-4055 Campbell Avenue (APN 055-251-260) 
 3885 Bohannon Drive (APN 055-251-220) 
 990 Marsh Road (APN 055-251-070) 
 1000 Marsh Road (APN 055-251-340) 
 1100 Marsh Road (APN 055-251-320) 
 1110 Marsh Road (APN 055-251-250) 
 1020, 1040, 1060, 1080 Marsh Road (APN 055-251-350) 

 
 The current Site Inventory includes sites #67, #68, #69, #70, #71, and #72 (also 
noted on the attached map) in Bohannon Park, across the street from our sites, as Non-
Residential Parcels with Complete Redevelopment.  The Housing Element assumes that 
redevelopment on these sites could be 100 percent residential or mixed use, much like 
several projects in the Bayfront area.  (Housing Element, page 7-33.)  Specifically, the 
Housing Element calls out the office sites on Bohannon Drive and Campbell Avenue 
because new residential allowances would be similar to ConnectMenlo’s R-MU zoning 
designation, which allows up to 100 du/ac at the bonus level, which the City sees as a 
“good indicator that higher-density housing could be developed in this area and that there 
is a market for such use.”  (Housing Element, page 7-34.)  On this we can agree; 
however, our omitted Bohannon Park sites enjoy even more likelihood of redevelopment 
because of our common ownership and ability to consolidate parcels into a viable, 
roughly 25+-acre redevelopment opportunity that could produce hundreds of (or possibly 
over a thousand) residential units.  By including our Bohannon Park properties in the Site 
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Inventory, the City can make the “Potential Findings for Non-Residential Parcels with 
Complete Redevelopment,” especially the prong that says “[s]ome controlling 
landowners are considering a sale, change of use, or change of locations”—especially if 
the City intends to self-certify.  (Id.)  Therefore, we respectfully request that the City 
include the aforementioned sites in the Site Inventory for the next draft of the Housing 
Element. 

Conclusion 

We are requesting that the City Council direct staff to include these properties in 
the Site Inventory because of our genuine interest in redeveloping the sites and helping 
the City achieve its RHNA obligations.  As we have stated before, we would like to be 
part of the solution and are offering suitable and realistic opportunities for the City to get 
credit for real—not illusory—housing units.  We hope that the City appreciates the 
seriousness of this moment.  As you know, there are many State Housing Law “tools in 
the toolbox” that developers could invoke to override local control if the City Council 
misses the mark with HCD.  We hope that the City Council recognizes our request as an 
opportunity to help avoid this outcome. 

Thank you for your consideration.  If you need any additional information or have 
any questions related to this request, please do not hesitate to contact me at 
david.bohannon@ddbo.com or (650) 345-8222. 

Sincerely, 

David D. Bohannon II 
President & CEO 

Enclosures 

cc: Justin Murphy, City Manager 
Mary Wagner, Office of the City Attorney 
Deanna Chow, Assistant Community Development Director 
Tom Smith, Acting Principal Planner 
Calvin Chan, Senior Planner 
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